1995

# Jill (Fairbanks) Eyring v. Roger R. Fairbanks : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

The sole issue before this court on appeal may be simply stated: Did the trial court err in construing the Supplemental Decree of Divorce to require defendant to pay the difference in tax liability incurred solely as a result of income of plaintiff's present husband in order to exercise his right to acquire the tax exemptions for the parties' children?

## **STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

Consideration of this issue does not require that any deference be given to the trial court's ruling. It requires legal interpretation of the provisions of the Supplemental Decree of Divorce and review of the trial court's legal conclusions de novo for correctness. Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039-1040 (Utah 1991).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. NATURE OF PROCEEDING.

This appeal is from a final order of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, denying defendant's post-divorce decree motion to compel plaintiff to refund payment demanded for release of tax exemptions.

### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Plaintiff and defendant stipulated to a decree of divorce entered in January of 1993. [R. 333-344]. The decree awarded plaintiff child support in the sum of One Thousand, Three Hundred, Eighty-seven and 00/100 dollars (\$1,387.00) per month, based solely upon income earned by defendant. [R. 334]. Plaintiff was unemployed at the time the decree was entered and remains, by choice, unemployed. She does not contribute financially to the support of the parties' four minor daughters, the youngest of which is 10 years of age.

Paragraph 16 of the Supplemental decree of Divorce awards defendant the right to acquire the tax exemptions for his four daughters "by paying to plaintiff any difference in her tax liability resulting from defendant purchasing the right to claim said tax exemptions." [R. 341-342].

For the tax year 1992, plaintiff had no tax liability, with or without the exemptions. She refused to comply with the decree and ultimately signed over the exemptions on the morning of a hearing scheduled on defendant's motion to compel her to do so.

In February of 1993, plaintiff remarried. For the tax year 1993, plaintiff again refused to release the exemptions. After defendant filed a motion to compel, she demanded and received from defendant the sum of Three Thousand forty-four and 00/100 dollars (\$3,044.00), representing the difference in tax liability of her new husband, based solely upon his income. [R. 360-361]. Defendant advised plaintiff that he was paying under protest in order to preserve his right to the exemptions and would move the court for an order refunding the money. [R. 360-361].

On April 13, 1994, defendant filed the motion which is the subject of this appeal, to compel plaintiff to refund the payment demanded for release of the tax exemptions. [R. 363]

After thorough consideration, the Court Commissioner, in a carefully reasoned memorandum decision, granted the motion to compel repayment, stating:



9. Since the Decree of Divorce was entered in this matter the Child Support *Guidelines with respect to the award of the children as dependents for tax purposes* has been amended and provides some further direction to the court. Section 78-45-7.21(2) provides, “In awarding the exemption, the court or administrative agency shall consider: (a) as the primary factor, the relative contribution of each parent to the cost of raising the child; and (b) among other factors, the relative tax benefit to each parent.” (Emphasis added by commissioner).

The appropriate interpretation of the disputed language as contained in the Decree of Divorce is as the defendant argues: that only the tax liability of these parents is to be considered in determining the amount, if any, defendant is to reimburse plaintiff for the right to claim the children as his dependents. Only if plaintiff's present husband's income is included in determining defendant's child support obligation would it be fair and consistent with the intent of the guidelines to allow the court to consider plaintiff's husband's tax liability in the award of the children as dependents for tax purposes.

See Minute Entry of August 16, 1994, a copy of which attached as Addendum Exhibit 1.

Plaintiff objected to the commissioner's ruling and the Trial Judge overruled the commissioner, denying defendant's motion to compel. A copy of the order and a transcript of his ruling are attached to the Addendum as

Exhibits 2 and 3 respectively.

For the tax year 1994, plaintiff demanded from defendant the sum of Two Thousand, Three Hundred, Forty-five and 71/100 Dollars (\$2,345.71) for the release of the exemptions, a sum based on tax liability resulting completely from income of her present husband. Defendant did not purchase the exemptions and incurred additional tax liability of One Thousand, Nine Hundred, Ninety-nine and 00/100 Dollars (\$1,999.00) as a result of being denied his right to claim the tax exemptions.

By this appeal defendant and appellant seeks (1) reversal of the denial of his motion to compel reimbursement, (2) recovery of the total sum of Five Thousand, Forty-three and 00/100 Dollars (\$5,043.00), paid to plaintiff and incurred by defendant in additional tax liability together with interest at applicable legal rates and, (3) an order consistent with the Commissioner's Ruling of August 16, 1994, that to purchase the exemptions he be required to pay plaintiff only the tax liability resulting from plaintiff's income, not the income of her current husband. In the event this appeal is resolved after April 15, 1996, defendant will also seek recovery for being denied his right to claim the exemptions for the 1995 tax year.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant's right to purchase the tax exemptions for the parties' minor children under paragraph 16 of the decree of divorce requires only that he pay any difference in plaintiff's tax liability which would result from her losing the exemptions. The plain meaning of this provision of the decree requires that the calculation of the difference in tax liability be based solely upon income earned by plaintiff. Plaintiff's demand and requirement that defendant pay a difference in tax liability resulting solely from income of her present husband is completely inconsistent with the intent of the parties as it is expressed in the plain language of the decree.

The appropriate interpretation of paragraph 16 of the decree is that only the tax liability of the parties to the divorce decree is to be considered in determining the amount, if any defendant must pay for the right to claim the children as his dependents. The income of plaintiff's present husband is completely irrelevant. Plaintiff earns no income and the income of her present husband has not been considered in determining defendant's child support obligation, which is based solely upon defendant's income. It would be patently unfair and inconsistent with both the intent of the parties as expressed in the decree and the Utah child support guidelines to consider the

tax liability of plaintiff's present husband in calculating what defendant must pay in order to purchase the exemptions.

The trial court's concern that a calculation which does not consider the income of plaintiff's present husband would be "hypothetical" completely misses the point. Any time a non-custodial parent is awarded a right to purchase exemptions based upon the custodial parent's difference in tax liability, there must, by definition, be a calculation involving potentially hypothetical tax calculations which may never actually be incorporated into a return.

The court's order denying defendant's motion to compel reimbursement should be reversed and plaintiff should be required to return with interest all sums defendant previously paid and incurred in additional tax liability as a result of calculations based upon tax liability attributable to income of plaintiff's present husband.

## ARGUMENT

**IN ORDER FOR DEFENDANT TO ACQUIRE THE TAX EXEMPTIONS FOR HIS CHILDREN, THE DECREE OF DIVORCE REQUIRES ONLY THAT HE PAY THE DIFFERENCE IN THE SOLE TAX LIABILITY OF PLAINTIFF, NOT THE TAX LIABILITY OF HER PRESENT HUSBAND**

Paragraph 16 of the Supplemental Decree of Divorce states:

16. The defendant is awarded the right to purchase the tax exemptions for the parties' minor children from plaintiff. Defendant may exercise this right by paying to plaintiff any difference in her tax liability resulting from defendant purchasing the right to claim said tax exemptions.

Supplemental Decree of Divorce, Paragraph 16, P. 9. [R. 341-342]. There is no dispute that plaintiff is unemployed by choice and that she does not contribute financially to the parties' children. Plaintiff nonetheless contends that this provision requires defendant to pay to her a difference in tax liability based solely on income of her present husband in order to acquire the exemptions. Defendant maintains that he need only pay any difference in her tax liability, exclusive of the tax liability of her present husband.

Courts have uniformly held that “[t]he meaning of a settlement agreement incorporated into a divorce decree should be determined according to the usual rules governing the construction of contracts. Kruse v Todd, 389 S.E.2d 488, 491 (Ga. 1990). See also, Sweeney v. Sweeney, 519 A.2d 1237 (Conn. App. 1987), Sutton v. Sutton, 771 S.W.2d 791 (Ark. App. 1989). The law of contracts, in turn, dictates that such agreements must be interpreted in a manner that is compatible with the clear intent of the parties as manifested by the written terms of the agreement. National Western Life Ins. Co. V. Schmek, 749 P.2d 974, 976 (Colo. App. 1987). As this issue appears to be one of first impression for the Utah Appellate Courts, there are no Utah cases which may be considered determinative. In Motes v. Motes, 786 P.2d 232 (Utah App. 1989), this court ruled on a related issue, holding that state courts have authority to direct a custodial parent to release tax exemptions to a noncustodial parent, in cases such as this where “. . . the noncustodial parent has the higher income and provides the majority of support . . .” Id. at 239. The same policy considerations apply to this case.

The clear intent of the parties as manifested by the written terms of paragraph 16 is that defendant is required to pay to plaintiff only for a

difference in “her” tax liability. It cannot reasonably be interpreted to require defendant to pay a difference in tax liability of plaintiff’s present husband, incurred solely as a result of his income.

The court commissioner, after a lengthy oral argument and careful consideration under advisement, recommended in his minute entry of August 16, 1994, that the trial court grant defendant’s motion to compel reimbursement of \$3,044.49, paid by defendant under protest to plaintiff for the release of tax exemptions. Paragraph 9 of the Commissioner’s findings on page 4 of the Minute Entry states:

Since the Decree of Divorce was entered in this matter the Child Support Guidelines with respect to the award of the children as dependents for tax purposes has been amended and provides some further direction to the court. Section 78-45-7.21(2) provides, “In awarding the exemption, the court or administrative agency shall consider: (A) as the primary factor, the relative contribution of each parent to the cost of raising the child: and (b) among other factors, the relative tax benefit to each parent. (Emphasis added by commissioner)

The appropriate interpretation of the disputed language as contained in the decree is as the defendant argues: that only the tax liability of these parents is to be considered in determining the amount, if any, defendant is to reimburse plaintiff for the right to claim the children as dependents. Only if plaintiff’s present husband’s income is included in determining defendant’s child support obligation would it be fair and consistent with the intent of the guidelines to allow the

court to consider plaintiff's husband's tax liability in the award of the children as dependents for tax purposes.

Minute Entry, Page 4. This ruling by the commissioner is sound in its reasoning and interpretation of Utah law and the decree of divorce. It is also supported by the same policy considerations adopted by this court in Motes, above, favoring the allocation of tax exemptions to the parent of the children who provides the greater support and for whom the tax benefit would be greater.

The commissioner did not misinterpret the law or the decree as plaintiff argued in her objection to his ruling. Her objection and the reasons stated therein are groundless. [R. 406-407]. There is nothing in the commissioner's ruling that "ignores the fact that plaintiff files a joint return." [R. 407]. Nor does it "require the plaintiff to file a married/single return ." [R. 407]. The plaintiff need only obtain a tax form and calculate what her tax would have been based upon her individual income for the year, just as the decree requires her to do in any event. The procedure is very simple; in fact, while plaintiff remains unemployed, the procedure is unnecessary. Once she signs the exemptions over to defendant as required by the decree, she is free to file any appropriate tax return including a joint return with her



present husband. Plaintiff's claim that "[t]he only way to calculate the tax effect of losing exemptions is to calculate the loss of the exemptions in the context of the joint return" is simply false.

Plaintiff is unemployed by choice. She earns no income and therefore has no tax liability. She does not contribute to the cost of raising the parties' four minor children. She receives almost \$17,000.00 per year, completely tax free from defendant, for whom said income is taxable and not subject to any claim for deduction. The district court's ruling that defendant must pay the difference in her husband's tax liability essentially increases her child support to \$20,000.00 per year tax free. Under the plain meaning of the decree and simple principles of equity and fairness, she should not be entitled to additional compensation for the exemptions on the children by virtue of the fact that she has married someone who earns in excess of \$75,000.00 per year and wants the exemptions so that he may save over \$3,000 in state and federal taxes. Requiring defendant to pay a difference in tax liability resulting solely from the income of plaintiff's present husband renders defendant's right to purchase the exemptions meaningless and has the effect of erasing it completely from the decree, a result which contradicts the clear intent of the parties.

## CONCLUSION