1995

Jill Fairbanks v. Roger R. Fairbanks : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal properly lies with the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(h), Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue presented is whether the Court erred in determining that the provision of the Decree of Divorce which requires the Defendant to compensate the Plaintiff for her increased income tax liability if he claims the dependency exemptions should be based upon her actual married-joint filing status. The trial court determined that the economic reality of the circumstances included the Plaintiff's filing of a married-joint tax return for the tax year 1993 for which she is jointly

and severally liable and which formed the basis for determining the Plaintiff's tax liability.

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The trial court's decision to enforce the parties' agreement should not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. Zions First National Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, 781 P.2d 487 at 479 (Utah App. 1989). Whether the language of the stipulation and decree is ambiguous is a question of law and should be reviewed for correctness. Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Co. v. Ross, 849 P.2d 1187 at 1192 (Utah App.) cert. denied. 860 P.2d 943 (Utah, 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDING.

The Defendant appeals the Order of the Third Judicial District Court entered May 2, 1995, which, in effect, denies the Defendant's Motion to Compel the refund of tax payments made to the Plaintiff pursuant to the Decree of Divorce. However, an Order of identical content referring to the Defendant's same Motion was entered February 3, 1995 and not appealed from. Additionally, an earlier "Recommendation and Order" which denies the Defendant's Motion to Compel Reimbursement was entered by the court on December 27, 1994, and not appealed.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

1. On August 17, 1992, the parties entered into an oral stipulation, read on the record, before the trial court, to settle the remaining issues of their bifurcated divorce. [R. 610 - 616]

2. The stipulation was read on the record by the Defendant's attorney. [R. 610]

3. The oral stipulation provided, in part, as follows:

. . . Mrs. Fairbanks will provide her tax return to Mr. Fairbanks and he can elect to, within 15 days thereafter, to provide tax returns prepared at his expense. He could then purchase any of the tax exemptions for the parties' minor children by paying the difference between her tax liability by not claiming those particular exemptions. He must pay that amount to her by April 10th of that year. [R. 615 - 616]

4. Based upon the oral stipulation the Defendant's attorney prepared a "Supplemental Decree of Divorce" entered by the court January 19, 1992. [R. 308 - 317]

5. The "Supplemental Decree of Divorce" provides as follows:

16. The Defendant is awarded the right to purchase the tax exemptions for the parties' minor children from Plaintiff. Defendant may exercise this right by paying to Plaintiff any difference in her tax liability resulting from Defendant purchasing the right to claim said tax exemptions.

6. The Plaintiff was awarded alimony which was to terminate upon her remarriage. (Supplemental Decree of Divorce, ¶2, at R. 2)

7. The parties had four children born as issue of the marriage and child support entered in the total base award amount of \$1,187. {R. 2 and R. 309]

8. The child support calculation included the imputation of income to the Plaintiff of \$731 per month. [R. 431]

9. The Findings of Fact are silent as to the relevant incomes of the parties.

10. The Defendant claimed the exemption for the tax year 1992 [R. 379] and acknowledged that, due to the Plaintiff's remarriage, that would be the last year that he would likely claim those exemptions pursuant to the Decree. [R. 379]

11. The Plaintiff remarried February 18, 1993. [R. 359] The Defendant remarried May 17, 1994. [R. 384] The Plaintiff filed a married-joint tax return for the tax year 1993 which reflected earned income by the Plaintiff and her spouse. [R. 380]

12. The Defendant paid the Plaintiff \$3,044.49 pursuant to the Decree and claimed the minor children of the parties as exemptions for tax return purposes. [R. 360] Subsequently, the Defendant brought a Motion "to Compel Plaintiff to refund payment demanded for execution of release of tax exemptions." [R. 363]

13. Following the hearing before the Commissioner, the matter was heard based upon the Plaintiff's objection by the trial judge which resulted in a denial of the Defendant's Motion to compel the refund. [R. 618 - 621]

14. The court's "Recommendation and Order" dealing with the issue of tax exemptions and other matters was signed and entered December 27, 1994 after being served upon the Defendant by mail October 27, 1994. [R. 476 - 481]

15. That Order provides, in part, as follows:

13. The Defendant's Motion to Compel Reimbursement of Sums paid to the Plaintiff represents reimbursement to the Plaintiff for her tax liability from not claiming the

parties' minor children as her dependents for tax purposes is denied consistent with the court's ruling based upon the Plaintiff's objection to the Commissioner's recommendation. [R. 479]

16. In addition, based upon the trial court's ruling, the Plaintiff's counsel prepared an Order which included the court's findings and conclusions. That Order was objected to by the Defendant. At a hearing dated January 9, 1995, the court directed Plaintiff's counsel to submit a new Order which deleted references to the findings and conclusions of the court, which were to be established by way of a transcript of the ruling. That Order was prepared by Plaintiff's counsel, served upon the Defendant by mail, [R. 562] and entered by the court February 3, 1995. [R. 560 - 561] No appeal was taken from that Order or the previous Order, dated December 27, 1995.

17. Subsequently, a third Order was signed and entered by the court identical in every respect to the Order of February 3, 1995 except for the signature of the Defendant approving that Order as to form. That Order was also served upon the Defendant on January 9, 1995. [R. 599 - 601]

18. The Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on June 1, 1995.

19. the Plaintiff disputes the factual allegations contained in the Appellant's principal brief which are not substantiated by the record including any reference to tax years subsequent to 1993 which were not part of the court's Order, or the Defendant's Motion and have no basis in the record.

20. In denying the Defendant's Motion to Compel Reimbursement, the trial judge noted:

(a) That the child support guidelines for the State of Utah changed as of July, 1994, and the previous guidelines presumed that the custodial parent would enjoy the right to claim the minor child as exemptions (resulting in a reduction of support paid to the custodial parent). [R. 619]

(b) That once remarried, the Plaintiff has the alternative of filing a joint or separate-married return and that her tax liability is based upon her filing status and her liability is joint and several under joint return. [R. 620]

(c) That to sustain the Defendant's Motion would require that the court entertain "hypothetical calculations" and would ignore the economic reality of the parties' circumstances.

(d) Based upon that the court concluded that the Decree of Divorce contemplated the calculation of tax liability based upon the actual tax return filed by the Plaintiff and, therefore, the Defendant's Motion should be denied.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant's Notice of Appeal was not timely filed. The content of the Order appealed from is identical in every respect to the court's earlier Order dated February 3, 1995, except the May 2, 1995 Order was approved by the Defendant as to form. The

February 3rd Order was properly served upon the Defendant and submitted to the court pursuant to the Code of Judicial Administration.¹ The mere fact that the Defendant approved that same Order as to form, and apparently submitted the same to the court and it is entered does not extend the time to appeal, especially where the provisions of the two Orders are identical. The Defendant's June 1, 1995 Notice of Appeal is more than thirty (30) days after the February 3, 1995 Order.

The court was correct in interpreting the Decree of Divorce. The Plaintiff's tax liability is the tax liability she has under the tax return she files as a married spouse. In this case, the Plaintiff filed a joint tax return with her husband. She is, thereby, jointly and severally liable for the tax obligation of that return. The parties obviously contemplated that they each would remarry. Both parties have remarried. By virtue of that fact, the Plaintiff no longer is entitled to receive alimony. There is no language altering the Defendant's right to claim the children as tax exemptions upon Plaintiff's remarriage. At best, the Defendant could claim rights to modify the Decree of Divorce by virtue of the Plaintiff's remarriage if he is claiming that it was an unanticipated substantial change. However, otherwise, it would be an anticipated event which was not included as any sort of a limiting factor in the Decree as it provides to tax exemptions.

¹ The January 9th Order was mailed to the Defendant along with a cover letter explaining that the Defendant had five (5) days to object and that the Order was served pursuant to the Rules of Judicial Administration. That letter does not appear of record in this case, but, as a convenience, is included in the Addendum.

The Plaintiff's new spouse is obligated to support his step children, and he does, pursuant to §78-45-4.1. Additionally, "support received from a parent's spouse upon remarriage is treated as having been received from the parent." (I.R.C. §152(e)(5))

The child support that the Plaintiff receives in this case is still governed by the pre-1994 guidelines. Those guidelines included a reduced amount of child support based upon the assumption that the custodial parent would enjoy the right to claim the minor child as exemptions. The law which took place in 1994 (which does not govern the Decree in this case) changes that Rule.

Previous court decisions in this state required that the parties and the court look to the "economic realities of any particular set of circumstances." In this case, the economic realities include the Plaintiff's filing of a married-joint tax return.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DEFENDANT'S NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS FILED UNTIMELY AND THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE APPEAL.

Where a Notice of Appeal is not timely filed the court is without jurisdiction to consider the appeal and the appeal should be dismissed. Neerings v. Utah State Bar, 817 P.2d 320 (Utah 1991). In this case, the first Order which denied the Defendant's Motion to Compel Reimbursement was entered December

27, 1994. That Order was served pursuant to the Code of Judicial Administration on the Defendant October 27, 1994. No appeal was taken. The second Order which was likewise served upon the Defendant pursuant to the Code of Judicial Administration was entered February 3, 1995. No appeal was taken. The third Order which was entered May 2, 1995, is identical to the February 3, 1995 Order except that the May 2nd Order has been approved as to form by the Defendant. It is a duplicate Order at best and does not affect the parties' rights under the Decree.

The confusion, if any, arises for the following reasons. The initial Order prepared by the Plaintiff's attorney included the court's findings and conclusions as well as the court's ruling. This Order was objected to and, after a hearing on January 9th, Plaintiff's counsel was instructed to prepare another Order which simply referred to the court's ruling. The court's findings would be established by the transcript of the ruling which the Defendant was required to obtain. On the same day as the court's decision directing the entry of the court's Order and the transcription of the ruling (of the October 24, 1994 hearing), Plaintiff's counsel prepared the new Order and served it on the Defendant pursuant to the Code of Judicial Administration. It was served upon the Defendant together with a transmitting cover letter which reminded the Defendant that he had five days to object and that the Order would be submitted pursuant to the Code of Judicial Administration. There was no objection. The Order was submitted together with a certificate

of mailing. Because the Defendant had the original Order calling for his approval as to form, another Order was printed by Plaintiff's counsel and submitted to the court for entry. Apparently, sometime thereafter, the Defendant approved the January 9th Order as to form and submitted it to the court and it was entered on May 2, 1995.

Even disregarding the court's Order of December 27, 1994, the February 3, 1995 Order certainly should control the disposition of the Defendant's Motion. The June 1, 1995 Notice of Appeal is untimely and there was no effort to extend the time to file the Notice of Appeal.

POINT II.

**THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DENY THE
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL REIMBURSEMENT
SHOULD BE SUSTAINED BECAUSE IT IS CONSISTENT
WITH THE ECONOMIC REALITIES OF THE PARTIES'
CIRCUMSTANCES.**

The issue on appeal is not which party should receive the right to claim the tax exemptions associated with their minor children. Rather, the parties agreed that the Plaintiff would have that right unless the Defendant determined that the exemptions were of more "value" to him than to the Plaintiff. The underlying consideration in this agreement was the relative tax benefit to one party or the other and who would save the most in actual taxes paid. This is largely a function of which tax "bracket" or effective date the parties experience. If the parties experience the same federal tax bracket, then presumably, the Defendant would not exercise his right because his payment

would be the same amount that he would save in taxes and there would be no benefit to him. Therefore, the underlying consideration of the parties' stipulation was to avoid the unnecessary payment of taxes. As will be seen hereafter, if the Defendant's interpretation of the Stipulation and Decree is adopted, it will mean the unnecessary payment of additional taxes (when the parties' tax returns are viewed together) and the assumption that the Plaintiff is filing her tax return under a status other than the status she actually utilizes. In every sense of the term, the Defendant's argument ignores the "economic realities" of the parties.

Amended Internal Revenue Code (I.R.C.), §152(e) specifies that the custodial parent is entitled to the dependency exemption absent a waiver. Since that amendment a majority of the state court's considering the issue have ruled that the courts retain jurisdiction to allocate dependency exemptions to non-custodial parents. Serrano v. Serrano, 566 A.2d 413 (Conn. 1989); Motes v. Motes, 786 P.2d 232 (Utah App. 1989).

The primary issue addressed in Motes was whether a state divorce court has the authority to award a tax exemption for supported children to the non-custodial parent. Allred v. Allred, 835 P.2d 974 (Utah App. 1992) (concurring opinion).

In Motes the court held:

State divorce courts must always recognize the financial benefit accompanying dependency exemptions when awarding alimony and child support. Thus, use of the power to order a custodial parent to execute a §152 Declaration should not be used to evenly other otherwise divide the available exemptions without regard to the particular economic realities. Motes v. Motes, supra.

Allred v. Allred, supra, is in agreement with the Motes decision:

First, the tax exemptions should not be awarded to the non-custodial parent without regard to the economic realities' to the particular case. . . In my view, this is the lesson of Motes: The award of the tax exemption for dependents should be based on economic realities and should be supported by adequate findings. Allred v. Allred, supra, (concurring opinion).

In this case the following "economic realities" are not disputed:

1. The Plaintiff has remarried and commenced filing a married-joint federal tax return in 1993.²

2. The Plaintiff has determined that it is to her benefit, to reduce the lawful taxes which are due by filing a married-joint tax return.

3. The parties' children are supported by way of support provided by the Plaintiff and her husband as well as child support paid by the Defendant.

4. The Plaintiff's husband has a statutory duty under §78-45-4.1, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) to support a step child to the same extent that a natural or adoptive parent is required to support a child.

5. Under I.R.C. §6013(d)3), if a couple files a joint return, each spouse becomes jointly and severally liable for

² The Defendant suggests that the allocation of dependency exemptions should be based upon "who provides the greater support". In addition to the fact that that is not the issue before the court on this appeal, there was no evidence introduced upon which the court could base a finding of who provides the greater support, at least when the step-parent's support is included in that comparison.

the full amount of tax due on the couple's combined earnings. (Furthermore, both spouses are also liable for assessments and penalties due to unreported income, disallowed deductions and the like.) I.R.C. §6653(b)(3)

6. The rules for allocating dependency exemptions between divorced or separated parents are provided by the Internal Revenue Code §152(e). For purposes of determining which parent provides more than one-half of the cost to support a child, support received from a parent's spouse upon remarriage is treated as having been received from the parent. I.R.C. §152(e)(5).

No finding can be made as to which party would benefit the most by claiming the exemptions because the Defendant has never indicated the extent of his 1993 income. However, the Defendant did pay the Plaintiff for the increased amount of tax due under her married-joint tax return filing. This is in spite of the fact that the Plaintiff's spouse earns "in excess of \$75,000 per year." (Brief of Appellant on appeal, p. 12) If that is the case, then the parties' stipulation accomplished exactly what was intended: the overall reduction of taxes when the parties' tax returns and overall liability are taken together. The only difference is that the Defendant does not want to pay for the Plaintiff's tax liability under the economic realities of this case which include the fact that the Plaintiff files a married-joint return.

If the Defendant's income tax bracket (including the income of his new spouse) is lower than the Plaintiff's under her married-joint filing then, presumably, the Defendant will not

wish to "purchase" the exemptions. In that event, the parties' stipulation accomplishes the same and legitimate goal that the parties had when they reached their stipulation: the overall reduction in combined and legitimate taxes due.

The Court can also discern the intent of the parties when viewing the stipulation as a whole. In doing so, it should be noted that the Defendant's counsel read the stipulation for the record and prepared the Supplemental Decree of Divorce which responds, essentially, with the stipulation. The stipulation and the Decree provide that in order for the Defendant to claim the children as exemptions, he must pay "to Plaintiff any difference in her tax liability resulting from Defendant purchasing the right to claim said tax exemptions." (Decree of Divorce, ¶16)

The Defendant urges an interpretation which would require the addition of terms to the parties' agreement. This new term would state that for purposes of calculating the Plaintiff's tax liability, the parties would pretend that the Plaintiff was were filing a married-separate return. Aside from ignoring the "economic realities" of the Plaintiff's circumstances, the Decree and the stipulation simply does not provide for that method of calculating the Plaintiff's tax liability.

Obviously, the parties could have agreed to terms which are now urged by the Defendant. The parties agreed for the termination of alimony upon the Plaintiff's remarriage. The parties contemplated that the Plaintiff would remarry at some point. Nevertheless, the stipulation and the Decree do not alter the method of calculating "her tax liability" in the event of remarriage. The rules governing the construction of contracts,

which the Defendant urges this Court to apply to the interpretation of the Decree in this case, would require that the trial court decision be sustained.

The parties' agreement and the Decree of Divorce is consistent with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and the laws of the State of Utah. Utah statute imposes upon a step parent the liability to support step children. The I.R.C. acknowledges and economic reality that a step parent will often provide support for step children. In such a case, the support received from a step parent is treated as having been received from the natural parent for purposes of allocating the dependency exemptions between divorced spouses.

In a broader sense, the I.R.C., Utah Code Ann., and the Decree of Divorce acknowledge another very fundamental economic reality. Upon remarriage, the parties frequently if not typically commingle their wherewithal for the support of the family. Under those circumstances, it is equitable and reasonable to view the value of a dependency exemption in the same way that family finances and taxes are viewed: together.

The Defendant has also failed to marshall the evidence in support of the court's decision. The Plaintiff testified by way of her affidavit that after the transfer of dependency exemptions for the tax year 1992, and when the Defendant learned of the


Plaintiff's remarriage plans, he indicated that he would not be "purchasing" the exemptions in the future because the Plaintiff would be filing a joint return and it would not be economical for the Defendant to purchase the exemptions in that event. That Affidavit is unrebutted on the record, as such, it is clear evidence in support of the Plaintiff's interpretation of the terms of the Stipulation and the Decree.

CONCLUSION

The Notice of Appeal is not timely and the court lacks jurisdiction to consider this matter. The court properly construed the stipulation and decree. The Plaintiff's tax liability should be based upon the "economic realities" in this case. One of those realities is that the Plaintiff files a married - joint return. Her tax liability should be consistent with that reality. The Plaintiff was awarded attorney's fees in the divorce action and should be awarded fees for this appeal.